RECEIVED

Jul 23 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019CP0702629
Appellant Case No. 2022-000469

Margaret A. Eberly and Barbara J. Pavelik; Plaintiffs,

v.

Advanced Flooring & Design Division of ISI, LLC; Archer Exteriors, Inc.;
Crossroads Enterprises, LLC; D.R. Horton, Inc.; East Coast Construction
Cleanup Corp.; Hutton's Landscapes, Inc.; Lather Construction SC, Inc.;
Lather Construction, Inc. Professional Drywall & Paint Services, LLC;
Professional Exteriors II, LLC; and Valim Construction, LLC, Defendants

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. Was Judge Price unfairly biased against the Appellant?
2. Did Judge Price improperly refuse to explain his grant of summary judgment against the Appellant, both in his original order granting summary judgment and then in his order denying the Appellant's Motion to Alter and Amend Judgment?
3. Without evidence or showing, did Judge Price improperly presume that the Appellant was at fault when he granted summary judgment against the Appellant on its equitable indemnification cause of action against the Respondents?
4. Is the construction contract between the Appellant and Respondent Lather unlawful?
5. Is the construction contract between the Appellant and Respondent Hutton's unlawful?
6. Did Judge Price improperly grant summary judgment as to Appellant's breach of contract, breach of express warranties, breach of implied warranties, and negligence/gross negligence/recklessness claims?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The underlying lawsuit was commenced on November 25, 2019, by the plaintiff purchasers of a new home in a newly developed subdivision who were dissatisfied with the property. It was amended on December 19, 2019. (ROA) [Amended Complaint] Suit was against the subdivision developer Appellant D.R. Horton, Inc. and various subcontractors, including Respondent subcontractors Hutton's Landscapes, Inc., Lather Construction, Inc. and Lather Construction SC, Inc.

On November 9, 2020, D. R. Horton crossclaimed against all defendant subcontractors for (a) contractual indemnification, (b) equitable indemnification, (c) breach of contract, (d)

breach of express warranties, (e) breach of implied warranties, and (f) negligence/gross negligence/recklessness. (ROA) [Defendant D. R. Horton, Inc.'s Answer to Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint and Further Asserting Its Crossclaims Against Co-Defendants]

On December 9, 2021, Respondent Hutton's moved for summary judgment "on the contractual and equitable indemnity cross-claims asserted against it by Defendant D. R. Horton". (ROA) [Hutton's Landscape's, Inc.'s Motion for Summary Judgment on the Cross-Claims of D. R. Horton, Inc.] On January 3, 2022, Lather and Lather SC moved for summary judgment, stating that they "hereby joins in totality and hereby adopts by reference as allowed by South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure 10(c), Hutton's Landscapes, Inc. ('Hutton's Landscapes')'s Motion for Summary Judgment on the Cross-Claims of D. R. Horton, Inc., filed on or about December 9, 2021. (ROA.) [Defendant Lather Construction, Inc. and Lather Construction, SC, Inc.'s Joinder in Hutton's Landscapes, Inc.'s Motion for Summary Judgment]

A hearing on the motions was held on March 3, 2022 before the Hon. Bentley D. Price. On March 11, 2022, Judge Price granted the motions for summary judgment for Hutton's and Lather. Lather SC was not mentioned in his order. (ROA) [Form 4 Order] By motion on March 18, 2022, Appellant D. R. Horton sought clarification and explanation of the judge's order. (ROA) [Defendant D. R. Horton, Inc.'s Motion to Alter and Amend Judgment] A week later, on March 24, 2022, Judge Price denied the motion. (ROA) [Order Denying Defendant D. R. Horton, Inc.'s Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment]

D. R. Horton's counsel filed and served a Notice of Appeal with Orders on April 11, 2022, and followed that on April 28, 2022 by serving and filing an Amended Notice of Appeal with Orders. (ROA)

On May 11, 2022, Respondent Hutton's Landscapes, Inc filed a Motion to Dismiss Appeal. On May 12, 2022, Respondents Lather Construction, Inc. and Lather Construction, SC, Inc. filed a Motion to Dismiss Appeal. On July 21, 2022, the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal. On April 24, 2024, the South Carolina Supreme Court reinstated the appeal, reversing dismissal and remanding the case to the Court of Appeals.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This is an appeal from the grant of motions for summary judgment. The standard for summary judgment is "reasonable inference" concerning a "genuine issue as to any material fact." Rule 56(c), SCRCP; *Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman*, 440 S.C. 456, 892 S.E.2d 297 (2023). "In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Quail Hill, LLC v. Cnty. of Richland*, 387 S.C. 223, 235, 692 S.E.2d 499, 505 (2010). "All ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party." *Murray v. Holnam, Inc.*, 344 S.C. 129, 137, 542 S.E.2d 743, 747 (Ct. App. 2001).

SUMMARY OF FACTS

The order of Judge Price granting summary judgment against D. R. Horton and in favor of Hutton's and Lather in this case had its origin in the order of the Hon. H. Steven DeBerry, IV refusing to grant summary judgment in favor of Hutton's, Lather and Lather SC against D. R. Horton on exactly the same grounds and Judge Price's improper reversal of Judge DeBerry in a companion case, *Richard W. and Rebecca A. Dreier, et al v. Advanced Flooring & Design et al including D. R. Horton, Inc.*, 2018-CP-07-00911, now on appeal in the Court of Appeals as App. Case No. 2022-000016. (ROA) [Order of Hon. H. Steven DeBerry, IV in *Dreier, id.* filed

November 12, 2021; Hutton's Landscapes, Inc.'s Motion for Summary Judgment on the Cross-Claims of D. R. Horton, Inc. in *Dreier, id.*, filed October 19, 2021; Defendants Lather Construction, Inc. and Lather Construction SC, Inc.'s Motion for Summary Judgment as To Claims of D. R. Horton, Inc. in *Dreier, id.*, filed October 8, 2021] ¹

D. R. Horton was the owner and developer of a subdivision in Beaufort County by the name Tidewater Creek. It contracted with Hutton's and Lather to perform site work there. Lather was also the general contractor for the site work. (ROA) [Trial testimony of Ronald Brunner November 18, 2021, in *Dreier, id.*, Transcript Vol. IV, p. 414, line 13 -p. 415, line 16] Lather's "Work generally consists of clearing, grading and constructing the water, sewer, drainage, and roads for the proposed residential subdivision." (ROA) [Article I – WORK 1.01, Document 00505 Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Contractor.] Hutton's contract work included "rough grade, final grade, landscape turnkey, landscaping, sod/seed, trees, backfill foundations/crawl spaces, flatwork labor turnkey, forming, pouring, stripping forms, slab backfill, and house slab turnkey (monolithic)." (ROA) [Hutton's Landscapes, Inc.'s Memorandum of Law in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment on the Cross-Claims of

¹ Hutton's attorney repeatedly referenced the *Dreier* case during the summary judgment hearing in this case from the first page of the hearing transcript, et. seq., and the judge referred to the case as well, so the *Dreier* trial material was squarely before the court. (ROA) [MSJ Hearing, March 3, 2022.] Rather than preparing a memorandum to support the motion for summary judgment in this case, Hutton's attorney stated that "we are going to incorporate our briefing that we filed in support of our motion for summary judgment on this issue in the *Dreier* lawsuit as well as our oral argument that we made on our motion to bifurcate D.R. Horton's cross-claims during the Shafi trial" and she then proceeded to hand Judge Price those pleadings. (ROA) [MSJ Hearing, March 3, 2022, TR. p. 4 lines 7-19.] There had been a deadline to file memorandum, which had already passed, and Hutton's attorney had filed no memorandum, so this maneuver was sprung on D.R. Horton's new attorneys. Judge Price allowed it even though he knew that the D.R. Horton attorneys before him were not a part of the Shafi trial.

D. R. Horton, Inc. in *Dreier, id.* (Pp. 1-4 and Ex. A. Contract] Both Lather and Hutton's were sophisticated companies. (ROA) [MSJ Hearing, March 3, 2022, TR. p. 19 lines 9 - 22]

The contracts at issue in this appeal are the same as those involved in *Dreier, id.* (ROA) [MSJ Hearing, March 3, 2022, Counsel for Hutton's, p. 3, ll. 21 - 25 and Counsel for Lather, p. 8, lines 4 - 14] They not only require Hutton's and Lather to indemnify D. R. Horton and to defend it, they also require Hutton's and Lather to provide insurance for their indemnity and defense obligations and to name D. R. Horton as an "additional insured." (ROA) [Contracts] Insurance is more than a theoretical part of these indemnification and duty to defend obligations. It is critical in this case because Respondents Lather and Hutton's are, and were at the time of trial in *Dreier, id.*, out of business. (ROA) [Defendant Lather Construction SC, Inc.'s Motion for Summary Judgment As To Claims of Plaintiffs and D. R. Horton, Inc. in *Dreier, id.*, including Exhibits D and F; Trial Proceedings in *Dreier, id.* on November 15, 2021, p. 33, line 23 - p. 35, line 10; Lather Notice of Bankruptcy Stay]

The First Amended Complaint included allegations concerning deficient site work. (ROA) [First Amended Complaint, especially Paragraphs 7, 8(d) & (e), 21, 25] Before the March 3, 2022, hearing on their motions for summary judgment, the case against Hutton's, Lather and Lather SC was settled with the plaintiffs. (ROA) All that remained were D. R. Horton's cross-claims against them. (ROA) [Hearing, March 3, 2021, p. 6, line 21 - p. 7, line 1 & p. 7, lines 20 - 21]

On March 11, 2021, Judge Price granted the motions of Hutton's and Lather in a Form 4 order that gave no basis for his decision. (ROA) [Form 4 Order, filed March 11, 2021] It did not mention Lather SC; nor did it specify which cross-claims it addressed. There was only a single Motion for Summary Judgment before the Court and that was filed by Hutton's. Lather

and Lather, SC joined the motion. That motion only asked for summary judgment as to D.R. Horton's contractual and equitable indemnity claims. Nothing else was properly before the court. There had been no motion as to D.R. Horton's cross-claims for (i) breach of contract, (ii) breach of express warranties, (iii) breach of implied warranties, and (iv) negligence/gross negligence/recklessness. When D. R. Horton sought an explanation for the basis and clarification about what was granted and what was not granted, Judge Price summarily denied its motion. (ROA) [Order Denying Defendant D. R. Horton's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment]

ARGUMENTS

1. WAS JUDGE PRICE UNFAIRLY BIASED AGAINST THE APPELLANT?

Circuit Judge Bentley Price was unfairly biased against the Appellant D. R. Horton because Appellant had not acceded to the plaintiff's settlement demand during trial several months earlier in the *Dreier* case and thereby required him to try that case through the end of the week instead of going home early as he wished. He wanted to force settlement also to avoid having to try 15 future related cases, including this one. In *Dreier*, Judge Price even threatened Appellant Horton with the threat of additur *during the second day of trial*, after *only* two witnesses appeared, and during the plaintiffs' case – *none* of the defendants had yet put on their respective cases. When that did not give him what he wanted, he improperly turned a third-party defendant's motion for bifurcation into a motion for summary judgment against Appellant D.R. Horton, granted summary judgment and in doing so reversed another circuit judge who had

denied the same motion only two business days earlier.² D.R. Horton brought this to the Court's attention in its appeal in *Dreier*:

THE COURT: All right. Who wants to start?

MS. LUCEY: Your Honor, I am happy to try to update the Court on the status of settlement talks, if you want to jump right into that.

THE COURT: Where are we on settlement talks?

MS. LUCEY: The parties have been talking, and Hutton's and Lather have communicated or are working on putting money on the table to settle the plaintiffs' claims. I don't believe that Horton has contributed any money towards the settlement a global settlement. Dreier R.p. 698:16 – 25 (ROA)

Along the way, the Respondents reminded Judge Price about the other 15 related trials for the homes that he faced in the future, as well as a trial on the Respondents' contractual indemnity and defense obligations.

MS. LUCEY: I think the only reasonable way to do it is for Hutton's to settle all of the claims with all of the homes with plaintiffs' counsel. I don't know that I am in a position to try to negotiate one house settlement; because that simply kicks the can down the road, and we will be here in three months.

THE COURT: Right. You will be right back in front of me in February.

MS. LUCEY: Right. Dreier R.p. 679:9 – 14 (ROA)

The stoking worked. Tuesday morning, Judge Price became exasperated.

THE COURT: Well, it's a huge mess. Dreier R.p. 685:6 (ROA)

The Court saw Appellant's desire to enforce the contracts regarding work they had already paid Respondents for as the biggest problem in the case.

² The full details of the additur threat, including Judge Price's own words, are set forth in D. R. Horton's Final Brief and Reply Brief of Appellant in the *Dreier* case. (ROA) [Appellant's Final Brief and Appellant's Final Reply Brief]

THE COURT: The biggest issue continues to be the cross-claims. That is the biggest snag. Because without that being resolved, then it's never going to settle or be resolved. It will always be - - there will always be this, you know, this case out there with you-all, and it's just never going to end. Dreier R.p. 688:15 – 19 (ROA)

At the end of Tuesday, after securing more confidential settlement information, Judge Price's exasperation led him to squeeze the Appellant in a manner that crossed the line.

THE COURT: Earlier when I got the update from the settlement conference that you all went into, why did D. R. Horton not throw anything in the pot? They had previously.

MR. NAIL: (representing D.R. Horton) I don't have an answer. It was two years ago.

THE COURT: I am talking about today.

MR. NAIL: Today?

THE COURT: Yes. Dreier R.p. 733:11 – 18 (ROA)

THE COURT: I am getting really concerned about the time and what is going to happen Thursday at 3:00.

All right. Tell D. R. Horton they are being absolutely ridiculous. I want you to email them, and I want you to bring me the email and tell them I said that, all right? Ask them if they know what an additur is, all right? Bring it to me tomorrow. Dreier R.p. 734:19 – 25 (ROA)

At the end of Thursday, the trial was still underway. Judge Price left town for the evening.

THE COURT: I need to be out of town. I told you that I thought this case would finish on Thursday. I am going to travel out of town tonight, but I will be back in the morning, but I am going to be late. I should be here by 11:15. I would ask all of you to be here around 11:00. Dreier R.pp. 828:25 – 829:4 (ROA)

The trial concluded at 8:10 p.m. on Friday. Judge Price then went to his daughter's birthday party.

THE COURT: . . . Today's my daughter's ninth birthday, so they're waiting on me to get home to do the cake, so imagine how many texts I've gotten today. . . . I

have a birthday party waiting on me. Dreier R.p. 878:5 – 7; Dreier R.p. 878:22 (ROA)

It is one thing for a judge to encourage settlement. It is another thing for a judge to browbeat and threaten a party toward settlement. What is particularly troubling about Judge Price's conduct is his invasion of the attorney/client privilege and the threat of an additur before the witnesses had all testified and before the jury rendered a judgment. He told Mr. Nail what to write to his client and then demanded a copy of it and threatened Appellant with additur. Judges are not permitted to threaten litigants or coerce settlement. In *Ledford v. Dep't of Pub. Safety*, 428 S.C. 387 (S.C. 2019), the Court admonished,

We are deeply concerned by Commissioner Braden's conduct in this matter. We first address her comments during the phone conference, especially those regarding a "duty" to report Ledford for criminal prosecution. Commissioner Braden's remarks essentially left Ledford with two equally undesirable options: (1) move forward with his claim and risk being referred for criminal prosecution; or (2) settle the case and forfeit his right to have his claim adjudicated, and concomitantly Commissioner would ignore her purported "duty" to report Ledford for criminal prosecution. Even if Commissioner Braden's statements were not intended as bona fide threats, there were undisputedly coercive. Commentary to Section 3(B)(8), Code of Judicial Conduct (CJC), Rule 501, SCACR ("A judge should encourage and seek to facilitate settlement, but parties should not feel coerced into surrendering the right to have their controversy resolved by the courts"). *Id.* at 391-92.

In *Dreier*, the threat of additur occurred *during the second day of trial*, after *only* two witnesses appeared, and during the plaintiffs' case – *none* of the defendants had yet put on their respective cases. When Appellant did not settle and declined to forego well over a million dollars (as of day two of the trial) in additional insured coverage because Respondents' insurance carriers failed to provide coverage for the claims and failed to defend Appellant despite Appellant's tender of the claim to Respondents' carriers, the Court took it upon itself to grant summary judgment against Appellant as to its indemnity and duty to defend cross-claims. "A trial judge must act with absolute impartiality in the performance of judicial duties." *State v. Davis*, No. 2006-UP-316,

2006 S.C. App. Unpub. Lexis 299 (S.C. Ct. App. Aug. 4, 2006).³ In *Cabrera v. Esso Std. Oil Co. P.R.*, held that the court “abused its discretion by factoring the plaintiff’s refusal to settle into its decision to dismiss the case.” 723 F.3d 82, 88 (1st Cir. 2013). The court admonished the trial court when it “permitted the information gleaned through its involvement with the settlement talks to exert influence over its disposition of Appellant’s motion.” *Id.* at 89. The court also cautioned the court that it had been too involved in settlement discussions when it obtained information about the parties’ positions that unduly influenced its ruling. *Id.* at 90 (the Eight Circuit similarly had concerns in *United States v. Pfizer*, 560 F.2d 319 (8th Cir. 1977) in situations where the decision-maker is too involved in settlement). In this case Judge Price was the decision-maker as to the cross-claims when he removed them from the jury’s purview by granting Respondents’ summary judgment motion.

If anything, the judge should have stayed out of any settlement discussions because he was being called upon to decide a dispositive motion concerning the very heart of the case. Instead, he plunged right into those discussions, even entertaining confidential aspects of the discussions which, moreover, were intended to and had the effect of poisoning him against the Appellant. His conduct concerning settlement and his desire to get through the trial in time for his Thursday at 3:00 p.m. trip and his daughter’s birthday show a clear bias which led him to rule against the Appellant contrary to the law and without facts, and he overruled another circuit judge, Judge DeBerry, who just two business days earlier had denied the very same summary

³ Additionally, a Judge’s family and social life are not supposed to bear upon any litigant’s trial and a judge is supposed to perform the duties of office impartially and diligently. S.C. Rule 501, Code of Judicial Conduct. Appellant felt repeated pressure and coercion to settle to accommodate the trial judge’s social calendar during typical court hours. Appellant was provided only one day to present a defense, while Plaintiffs had four days.

judgment motions. The Court deprived Appellant of its day in court as to its cross-claims without due notice or a meaningful opportunity to be heard when a procedurally ill-timed motion to bifurcate was allowed to proceed as a repeat motion for summary judgment.

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