**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
THE HONORABLE BENTLEY D. PRICE
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000469
CASE NO. 2019-CP-07-02629

Margaret A. Eberly and Barbara J. Pavelik,

PLAINTIFFS,

versus

Advanced Flooring & Design Division of ISI, LLC;
Archer Exteriors, Inc.; Crossroads Enterprises, LLC;
D.R. Horton, Inc.; East Coast Construction Cleanup Corp.;
Hutton's Landscapes, Inc.; Lather Construction SC, Inc.;
Lather Construction, Inc.; Professional Drywall & Paint Services, LLC;
Professional Exteriors II, LLC; and Valim Construction, LLC,

DEFENDANTS,

Of whom

D.R. Horton, Inc. is

APPELLANT,

versus

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

ARGUMENT

- I. D.R. Horton’s argument that the Trial Court erred in granting summary judgment to Hutton’s Landscapes due to alleged actions in a prior and separate trial is not preserved for review and further has no bearing upon the propriety of the grant of summary judgment which involved matters of law before the court.**

In challenging the Trial Court’s grant of summary judgment, D.R. Horton contends Judge Price was biased against D.R. Horton after handling a previous trial a few months earlier in the case of *Richard W. and Rebecca A. Dreier et al. v. Advanced Flooring & Design et al. including D.R. Horton, Inc.*, 2018-CP-07-00911. D.R. Horton further argues that in the *Dreier* case, Judge Price improperly overruled another circuit judge’s order denying Hutton Landscape’s motion for summary judgment when Judge Price determined that the contractual indemnification provision between D.R. Horton and Hutton’s Landscapes was void and unenforceable during the trial of the case. D.R. Horton insists that the grant of summary judgment entered by Judge Price in favor of Hutton’s Landscapes in this case must be reversed due to these purported allegations which occurred in a separate case.

These issues are not preserved for appellate review by this Court. D.R. Horton neither raised these issues to the Trial Court in its bench brief, during the summary judgment hearing, or in its motion to alter or amend. These issues cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. See *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”); see also *Gaddy v. Douglass*, 359 S.C. 329, 349-50, 597 S.E.2d 12, 23 (Ct. App. 2004)

(holding that allegations of a judge's lack of impartiality would not be addressed by the appellate court where the matters were not raised to and ruled upon by the trial court).

This case also does not involve any prior ruling by a circuit court judge. The Trial Court was hearing and ruling upon summary judgment for this first time in this case.

Finally, whatever may or may not have occurred in the separate *Dreier* trial has no bearing on the grant of summary judgment in this case which, as Hutton's Landscapes will show, are matters of law for which the grant of summary judgment was proper. This Court should reject D.R. Horton's fruitless endeavor to muddle the straightforward issues in this case.

II. The Trial Court granted summary judgment on each of D.R. Horton's six cross-claims as shown and supported by the record and of which D.R. Horton had notice of and did not object to the Trial Court's consideration of summary judgment on such cross-claims.

D.R. Horton next complains that the Trial Court erred in failing to provide a full basis for the grant of its summary judgment to Hutton's Landscapes on each of D.R. Horton's cross-claims. While it is true that the Trial Court's order granting summary judgment simply states the motions for summary judgment are granted, it is readily apparent from the record that the Trial Court granted summary judgment in favor of Hutton's Landscapes on all cross-claims asserted by D.R. Horton. See Rule 52(a) ("Findings of fact and conclusions of law are unnecessary on decisions of motions under Rules 12 or 56 or any other motion except as provided in Rule 41(b)."); see also Porter v. Labor Depot, 372 S.C. 560, 568, 643 S.E.2d 96, 100 (Ct. App. 2007) (stating "not all situations require a detailed order, and the [circuit] court's form order may be sufficient if the appellate court can ascertain the basis for the circuit court's ruling from the record on appeal"); Easterling v. Burger King Corp., 416 S.C. 437, 453, 786 S.E.2d 443, 452 (Ct.

App. 2016) (disagreeing with the argument that the appellate court was “unable to ascertain the basis behind the circuit court's order’ because the circuit court ruled upon the motion for summary judgment via Form 4 order” and finding “the parties provided an ample record for [the appellate] court to conduct meaningful appellate review”).

Hutton’s Landscapes initially moved for summary judgment on D.R. Horton’s cross-claims for contractual and equitable indemnification, but also reserved the right to assert additional grounds for summary judgment and adopted and incorporated by reference any and all grounds for summary judgment asserted at any time by any other defendant. [R.pp. ___; Hutton Mtn. for Summary Judgment.] Lather Construction then also filed a motion for summary judgment seeking the Trial Court “to dismiss with prejudice the claims asserted by D.R. Horton, Inc. against Lather Construction.” [R.pp. ___; Lather Mtn. for Summary Judgment.]

Lather Construction subsequently filed a memorandum in support, arguing it was entitled to summary judgment on the contractual indemnity claim because the indemnity provision, which was identical to the provision in Hutton’s Landscape’s contract, (1) violated the clear and unequivocal standard set forth in Concord and Cumberland Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Concord & Cumberland, LLC, 424 S.C. 639, 819 S.E.2d 166 (Ct. App. 2018); (2) violated the Anti-Indemnity Statute; and (3) was void as against public policy because it required the subcontractors to indemnify D.R. Horton for its intentional acts. [R.pp. ___; Memo. in Support, pp. 5-7.] Lather Construction further argued that D.R. Horton’s claim for equitable indemnification failed as a matter of law where D.R. Horton had unclean hands and the claim was not ripe. [R.pp. ___; Id. at pp. 7-8.] Finally, Lather Construction argued that D.R. Horton’s remaining claims for breach of contract, breach of

express and implied warranties, and negligence/gross negligence should be dismissed as a matter of law under Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners' Ass'n v. Builders FirstSource-Southeast Grp., 413 S.C. 630, 776 S.E.2d 434 (Ct. App. 2015) because these claims were merely disguised equitable indemnity claims. [R.p. ____; Id. at p. 8.] Hutton's Landscapes, via its prior motion, had adopted each of these arguments. [R.p. ____; Hutton's Mtn. for Summary Judgment, p. 2.]

D.R. Horton was well aware of the basis for the motions for summary judgment, submitting a bench brief where it argued for the validity and enforceability of the indemnity provisions at issue, contended it could not be found negligent for purposes of the equitable indemnification claim, and maintained that Stoneledge did not apply. [R.pp. ____; D.R. Horton Bench Brief.] D.R. Horton had notice of the arguments for summary judgment by Hutton's Landscapes and Lather Construction on each of its cross-claims and cannot claim any prejudice from any alleged insufficiency in the motions for summary judgment. See Plyler v. Burns, 373 S.C. 637, 650, 647 S.E.2d 188, 195(2007) (observing any alleged non-compliance with the technical requirements of Rules 6(d) and 7(b)(1), SCRPC did not prejudice appellant where she had sufficient notice of arguments to prepare for hearing).

At the beginning of the hearing, counsel for Hutton's Landscapes announced it was moving for summary judgment on each of D.R. Horton's cross-claims, including contractual and equitable indemnification and D.R. Horton's remaining claims for breach of contract, breach of warranties and negligence which were disguised claims for equitable indemnity. [R.p. ____; Transc., p. 3, ll. 5-11.]

Notably D.R. Horton had no objection to the summary judgment hearing proceeding on each and every one of its cross-claims against Hutton's Landscapes and

Lather Construction. See Ball v. Canadian American Express Co., Inc., 314 S.C. 272, 277, 442 S.E.2d 620, 623 (Ct.App.1994) (failure to object to an issue during a hearing before the trial court waives the right to object on appeal).

The Trial Court heard argument by Hutton's Landscapes and Lather Construction and also had before it memoranda and exhibits from the parties on the enforceability of the contractual indemnity provisions, D.R. Horton's unclean hands to as equitable indemnity, whether the equitable indemnity claim was ripe, and the bar under the cited Stoneledge case as to D.R. Horton's cross-claims for breach of contract, breach of express and implied warranties, and negligence/gross negligence. [R.pp. ___; ___; ___; Id. at pp. 3, l. 11 – 4, l. 4; 28, l. 13 – 31, l. 20; 32, l. 20 – 33, l. 23.; Lather Memo. in Support and Exhibits; Hutton's Landscapes Memo. in Support and Exhibit from the *Dreier* case.] It was clear that the parties were seeking summary judgment as a matter of law on all six of D.R. Horton's cross-claims.

The natural conclusion from the record is that the Trial Court granted summary judgment and ruled upon all the arguments raised by Hutton's Landscapes and Lather Construction. Furthermore, and as argued more fully below, the record establishes and supports that the grant of summary judgment was proper as a matter of law on each of D.R. Horton's six cross-claims.

III. The contractual indemnity provisions are void and unenforceable under South Carolina's Anti-Indemnity Statute because these provisions require Hutton's Landscapes to defend D.R. Horton against all of the plaintiffs' claims, including claims based on D.R. Horton's sole negligence, or to reimburse D.R. Horton for all sums accrued on account of the claims, including those related to its sole negligence.

On May 16, 2014, D.R. Horton and Hutton's Landscapes entered into an Independent Contractor Agreement for Hutton's Landscapes to perform the work as

described above to D.R. Horton (the “Contract”). The Contract was entered into on a “blanket basis” and intended to govern all current and future work of Hutton’s Landscapes performed for D.R. Horton. [R.pp. ____; Contract.]

The Contract includes an indemnity clause comprised of one long, continuous paragraph (the “Indemnity Clause”) which purports to require Hutton’s Landscapes, as Contractor, to defend and indemnify D.R. Horton, as Owner:

10.1 Generally. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor shall protect, defend, indemnify, and hold Owner . . . (“Indemnatee”), free and harmless from and against any and all claims, demands, lawsuits or other litigation, actions, causes of action, or other liabilities of every kind and character (including all costs thereof and attorneys’ fees) whether asserted by a purchaser or owner, contractor, or any third party . . . on account of bodily or personal injury, death, or damage to or loss of tangible or intangible property including the loss of use thereof in any way occurring, incident to, arising out of, or in connection with: (1) a breach of any warranties, representations, covenants, or other obligations of Contractor set forth in this Agreement; (2) the Work, as defined in Section I, including but not limited to work performed or to be performed or material supplied by Contractor or Contractor’s agents, or employees; (3) any negligent or intentional act or omission of Contractor . . . regardless whether caused in part by Indemnatee; or (4) any negligent or intentional act of Indemnatee, related in any way to the Work, excepting only liability or claims arising out of bodily injury to persons, death, or damage to property proximately caused by or resulting from the sole negligence or sole intentional act or omission of Indemnatee. Contractor’s duty to defend is a separate, distinct, and independent obligation from its duty to indemnify and is triggered immediately when any claim, demand, or other assertion of liability is made against Indemnatee which potentially or arguably is subject to Contractor’s duty to indemnify regardless of Contractor’s ultimate liability for indemnity. Contractor must defend Indemnatee even where the allegations against Indemnatee are ambiguous or incomplete with respect to the issue of Contractor’s duty to indemnify. Once the duty to defend is triggered, Contractor is obligated to defend the entire action, lawsuit, arbitration, or other litigation, including any claims therein not subject to indemnity by Contractor. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall require Contractor to indemnify Indemnatee against liability for damages arising out of bodily injury or property damage proximately caused by or resulting from the sole negligence or sole intentional act or omission of Indemnatee.

[R.p. ____; Contract, p. 4, § 10.1 (all caps removed for readability).]

The Contract further contains a reimbursement provision (the “Reimbursement Clause”):

10.2 Indemnity Not Exclusive Remedy. Any payments by Contractor under Section 10 to or on behalf of the Indemnatee shall be in an addition to all other legal remedies available to th Indemnatee and shall not be considered the Indemnatee’s exclusive remedy. Indemnatee shall have the right, it if so chooses in its absolute discretion, to defend all claims which may be asserted and Contractor will reimburse Indemnatee for all expenditures that Owner may incur on account of the claim.

[R.p. ____; Id. at p. 4, § 10.2 (all caps removed for readability).]

Under its contractual indemnity claim, D.R. Horton asserted it is entitled to “full contractual indemnification from any liability D.R. Horton is found to have to Plaintiffs . . . entitling D.R. Horton to recover from Subcontractors its attorneys’ fees, costs, and any and all expenses associated with defending this action as well as any sums for which it may be held liable to Plaintiffs, whether by judgment, compromise, settlement, or otherwise.”

[R.p. ____; Cross-Claims, ¶ 84.]

D.R. Horton is not entitled to contractual indemnification because the Indemnity and Reimbursement Clauses in the Contract between D.R. Horton and Hutton’s Landscapes are unenforceable under South Carolina’s Anti-Indemnity Statute. These clauses require Hutton’s Landscapes to defend and/or pay damages, such as attorneys’ fees and costs, for D.R. Horton’s sole negligence in violation of the statute. Accordingly, the Trial Court properly granted summary judgment to Hutton’s Landscapes on D.R. Horton’s contractual indemnification claim.

South Carolina’s Anti-Indemnity Statute, S.C. CODE ANN. § 32-2-10, prohibits any promise or agreement in a construction contract which requires a promisor to indemnify the promisee for the promisee’s sole negligence:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, **a promise or agreement** in connection with the design, planning, construction, alteration, repair or maintenance of a building, structure, highway, road, appurtenance or appliance, including moving, demolition and excavating, **purporting to indemnify the promisee**, its independent contractors, agents, employees, or indemnitees **against liability for damages arising out of bodily injury or property damage proximately caused by or resulting from the sole negligence of the promisee**, its independent contractors, agents, employees, or indemnitees **is against public policy and unenforceable**. Nothing contained in this section shall affect a promise or agreement whereby the promisor shall indemnify or hold harmless the promisee or the promisee's independent contractors, agents, employees or indemnitees against liability for damages resulting from the negligence, in whole or in part, of the promisor, its agents or employees. The provisions of this section shall not affect any insurance contract or workers' compensation agreements; nor shall it apply to any electric utility, electric cooperative, common carriers by rail and their corporate affiliates or the South Carolina Public Service Authority.

Id. (emphasis added).

While the Indemnity Clause in the Contract between D.R. Horton and Hutton's Landscapes purports to exclude from indemnity liability for D.R. Horton's sole negligence, contained within the same Indemnity Clause is a broad and expansive duty to defend which requires Hutton's Landscapes to bear entirely the costs of D.R. Horton's defense regardless of whether Hutton's Landscapes is ultimately required to indemnify D.R. Horton:

Contractor's duty to defend is a separate, distinct, and independent obligation from its duty to indemnify and is triggered immediately when any claim, demand, or other assertion of liability is made against Indemnitee which potentially or arguably is subject to Contractor's duty to indemnify **regardless of Contractor's ultimate liability for indemnity**. Contractor must defend Indemnitee even where the allegations against Indemnitee are ambiguous or incomplete with respect to the issue of Contractor's duty to indemnify. Once the duty to defend is triggered, **Contractor is obligated to defend the entire action, lawsuit, arbitration, or other litigation, including any claims therein not subject to indemnity by Contractor**.

[R.p. ____; Contract, p. 4, § 10.1 (emphasis added).]

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